#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

\*\*\*\*

PROPERTY PLUS INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Corporation

Appellants,

VS.

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a Nevada Association, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEM; an Illinois Corporation; ARLINGTON RANCH NORTH MASTER ASSOCIATION; a Nevada Non-Profit Corporation; ARLINGTON RANCH LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE ASSOCIATION; a Nevada Non-Profit Corporation; DOES 1 Through 25 inclusive; and ROE CORPORATIONS, I through X, inclusive. Respondents.

S.C. No.: 69072 D.C. Non 21 2016 04:22 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

# I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal arises from the final order of the Eighth Judicial Court, In and For the County of Clark, State of Nevada, the Honorable Judge Linda Marie Bell. JA0336-JA0343. The order granting motion for summary judgment thereby summarily dismissing the Appellant's claims for quiet title was entered on July 14, 2015. JA0336-JA0343. The order denying Appellant's Motion for Rehearing and Motion to Vacate Summary Judgment was entered on September 30, 2015. JA0482-JA0485. The Notice of Entry of Order was entered on October 08. 2015. JA0486-JA0489. Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal on October 26, 2015. JA0490-JA0492. The jurisdiction of this High Court is conferred and based upon Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure ("NRAP") 3A(b)1 and 3A(b)(3) for an appeal from a final order and denial of injunctive relief.

# II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure 17 (13-14). The case before this High Court involves issues of first impression regarding the statewide importance of N.R.S. 116.3116 HOA lien matters. Therefore, this Honorable Court's retention of this matter is the proper routing of the case.

# III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Upon grant of an order, after a hearing on the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and Appellant's Motion to Vacate Summary Judgment, the district court granted and upheld the Motion for Summary Judgment in favor of the Respondents thereby essentially summarily dismissing the above-entitled matter in favor of the Respondents in this quiet title action. JA0336-JA0343. The district court granted summary judgment as a matter of law on two grounds: (1) tender of the super-priority lien amount and (2) bankruptcy discharge. JA0336-JA0343. Therefore the following two issues are presented in this appeal:

- 1. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT, AS A MATTER OF
  LAW, THE HOA'S REJECTION OF THE TENDER DISCHARGED THE SUPERPRIORITY LIEN THUS ENTITLING THE RESPONDENTS TO SUMMARY
  JUDGMENT?
- 2. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE HOMEOWNER'S BANKRUPTCY DISCHARGE OF HOA FEES REQUIRES THE HOA TO RECORD NEW NOTICES THUS AN HOA FAILURE TO DO SO RENDERS THE HOA FORECLOSURE SALE IMPROPER AND ILLEGAL THUS ENTITLING RESPONDENTS TO SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

# III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order of Summary Dismissal pursuant to a Motion for Summary Judgment in favor of the Respondents in a quiet title case. JA0336-JA0343. The crux of this case involves two subjects: (1) tender of the superpriority lien amount and (2) a homeowner's bankruptcy discharge of HOA assessments.

In the instant matter, as discussed herein, Appellant bought the subject property at a non-judicial HOA lien foreclosure sale. Subsequent to recording the deed for the subject property claiming its ownership, on November 25, 2013, Appellant filed a Complaint seeking the equitable relief it deserves by requesting: (1) quiet title, (2) declaratory relief and (3) injunctive relief. JA0001-JA0016. Respondent's filed an Answer on February 10, 2014. JA0051-JA0057. Thereafter, the parties engaged in discovery. Subsequent to the close of discovery, on March 16, 2015, Respondents filed a Motion for Summary Judgment. JA0156-JA0212. Accordingly, on April 15, 2015, Appellant filed its Opposition to Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and counter-moved for Summary Judgment in its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This case is a quiet title case involving an HOA lien. A dispute exists as to the facts surrounding the tender of fees and assessments regarding the super-priority lien.

Las Vecas, nv ogiqo

favor. JA0219-JA0295. On May 27, 2015 the Respondents filed a Reply and Opposition to the same. JA0296-JA0335.

On July 02, 2015, a hearing was held for Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment. The Honorable Linda Marie Bell heard and presided. On July 14, 2015, the district court, in favor of the Respondents, granted the motion for summary judgment thus summarily dismissing, as a matter of law, the Appellant's claims for quiet title, declaratory relief and injunctive relief. Notice of Entry of Order regarding Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment was entered on July 20, 2015. On July 30, 2015, Appellant moved the Court for reconsideration and vacation of the summary judgment. JA0348-JA0455. On August 26, 2015, Respondents filed an Opposition thereto. JA0456-JA0481. On September 30, 2015, the district court entered an order denying the same. JA0482-JA0485.

Thus, Appellant sought an appeal with this Honorable Court, which Appellant docketed on November 17, 2015. Subsequently, this Court ordered a Reinstatement of Briefing on March 09, 2016 which allotted the Appellant 90 (ninety days) days to file the opening brief. Plaintiff requested a telephonic extension for filing due finalizing the Joint Appendix. Thus, Appellant's Opening Brief as follows.

11

12

13

14

15

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts of this matter are numerous because of the existence of three HOA liens on the subject property at issue. In the instant matter, Appellant, Property Plus Investments ("Property Plus") purchased a residential property located at 8787 Tom Noon Avenue, No.: 101, Las Vegas, Nevada 89178 with APN NO.: 176-20-714-331 ("subject property") at a non-judicial HOA foreclosure sale. The subject property is a part of a common interest community governed by three associations, including, Arlington Ranch North Master Association ("ARNMA"), High Noon at Arlington Ranch Homeowner's Association ("High Noon") and Arlington Ranch Landscape Maintenance Association ("ARLMA"). However, the foreclosure sale at issue is the foreclosure sale conducted by High Noon at Arlington Ranch Homeowner's Association ("High Noon") for a 2012 lien.

In the foregoing matter, the above-captioned homeowners neglected to pay all of their respective HOA assessments due and owing to all the associations. Most notably, the Respondent tendered nine months worth of assessments in September 2010 which was seemingly accepted by all of the HOAs. Thus. thereafter all of the HOAs released all liens. However, on July 20, 2012 High Noon recorded a notice of lien for unpaid assessments. On October 31, 2012, High Noon recorded default and election to sell. In December 2012, the homeowner

filed Chapter 7 bankruptcy which was discharged on March 20, 2013.

Thus, on June 21, 2013, High Noon recorded its Notice of Trustee Sale for the July 2012 lien. At no time between July 2012 to date, did either Respondents, first deed of trust holders, or the homeowner, pay the super priority assessments to prevent the foreclosure sale. Therefore, on July 17, 2013, the trustee conducted the foreclosure sale of the subject property. At the foreclosure sale on July 17, 2013 High Noon sold the property to Property Plus the highest bidder for Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$7,500.00). On, July 30, 2013, Property Plus recorded its deed to the property.

In an effort to protect his legal interest and rights in the subject property, Property Plus initiated action to quiet title. Now, Property Plus seeks this High Court's determination that motion for summary judgment in the Respondents' favor was improper in this instance.

# V. **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In the instant matter, this Honorable Court is presented with the common issues that surround the much litigated issues surrounding the HOA super-priority lien. Property Plus presents the following arguments in this appeal: (1) motion for summary judgment in the Respondents' favor regarding a tender as a matter of law is improper and (2) Respondents were not entitled to summary judgment as a

12

13

15

17

18

20

21

22

23

24

25

homeowner's Chapter 7 bankruptcy does not affect a lien that runs with the land. Property Plus proffers two main arguments in support of his position regarding the lingering issues present in this case at bar. First, Respondents failed to provide the district court with sufficient grounds regarding tender to set aside the High Noon's foreclosure sale on its motion for summary judgment. Second, Respondents failed to provide the district court with sufficient grounds regarding a homeowner's bankruptcy sets aside the High Noon's foreclosure sale in its motion for summary judgment.

Therefore, Property Plus requests a reversal of the district court's order granting the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment which sets aside the High Noon's foreclosure sale. Property Plus seeks this reversal because the district court erred when negating conducting an equitable factual inquiry and simply granting Respondent summary judgment as a matter of law. This determination is contrary to the precedent recently established by Shadow Wood HOA v. NY Cmty. Bancorp., 366 P. 3d 1105 (Nev. 2016) as well as the public policy behind the spirit of N.R.S.§116, et. al and common law property principles.

10

11

12

13

14

15

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

## VI. **ARGUMENT**

A. DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY RESPONDENTS' FAVOR REGARDING RESPONDENT'S TENDER ARGUMENT BECAUSE RESPONDENT TENDER ANY FUNDS TO SATISFY PRIOTITY LIEN RECORDED IN JULY 2012.

In the instant case, the district court granted summary judgment in the Respondents' favor supporting the position that Respondents' attempted tender of payment for the super-priority lien in 2010 voids the sale and preserves the first deed of trust on the subject property. In the case at bar, the record reflects that High Noon recorded a lien in April 2010 and default of said lien in July 2010. Respondent asserted that it submitted tender in September of 2010 to Alessi & Koenig. Although the district court believed that the tender was rejected, Respondents admit and agrees with the Plaintiff's position that the tender was accepted which resulted in a release of lien. JA0563-JA0565.

However, after approximately, two years, High Noon received no payments for assessments after the first tender. Presumably, Respondents believe that one payment negates having to make any further payments to the HOA. In response to the Respondents' and the homeowner's continued and pervasive inaction with regards to payment of assessments, High Noon recorded yet another lien in July

KANG & ASSOCIATES, PLLC. 6480 W. SPRING MOUNTAIN ROAD, SUITE 1 LAS VEGAS, NV 89446

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

2012. The record lacks any evidence that Respondents tendered any funds to Alessi & Koenig to prevent the foreclosure sale.

The disputed evidence demonstrates that Respondents failed to protect its interest by making timely payments for the assessments for at least one year which resulted in the recording of a new lien, default as well as the foreclosure sale conducted on July 30, 2013. Similar to Shadow Wood, here, "[Respondent's 2010] tender] did not absolve [Respondents] of [the] obligation...to pay the monthly HOA assessments as they came due, which it failed to do." Shadow Wood HOA v. *NY Cmty. Bancorp.*, 366 P. 3d 1105, 1113 (Nev. 2016). Further,

> "None of the parties, most importantly [Respondents], whom the district court found carried its burden to show no genuine issues of material fact existed and that it therefore was entitled to judgment as a matter of law, point to uncontroverted evidence in the record to show exactly what [High Noon] was entitled to post-[Respondents' 2010 tender] and up until the association foreclosure sale, leaving that amount surrounded by issues of fact and not a proper basis upon which to enter summary judgment. [Thus] [t]he district court erred in simply stopping at its conclusion that [High Noon] was entitled only to nine months' worth of assessments [and that High Noon rejected a tender regarding the 2012 lien]."

Id. at 1113-114(referencing Anderson v. Heart Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 208 Cal.App.3d 202, 256 Cal.Rptr. 180, 189 (1989)). In the case at bar, the grant of summary judgment in the Respondents' favor based on the legal premise of a rejected tender was erroneous, as even the Respondents seemingly denies the facts

23

25

of the rejected tender argument it presented to the district court. At the very least, present herein, are genuine issues of material fact regarding the tender issue.

Respondents concede that The Nevada Real Estate Division is the proper agency to interpret the statute. However, in <u>SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1 v. US</u>

<u>Bank</u>, this Honorable High Court of Nevada relied not only on the Nevada Real Estate Division's analysis but readily accepted the interpretation provided by the drafters of the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (UCIOA). Given the precedented case law, the super-priority lien amount does not solely include 9 (nine) months of assessments. This High Court reiterates that,

"The [HOA] lien is also prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b) to the extent of any [maintenance and nuisance-abatement] charges incurred by the association on a unit pursuant to NRS 116.310312 and to the extent of the assessments for common expenses [i.e., HOA dues] based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien, unless federal regulations adopted by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation the Federal **National** or Mortgage Association require a shorter period of priority for the lien.... This subsection does not affect the priority of mechanics' or materialmen's liens, or the priority of liens for other assessments made by the association. NRS 116.3116(2) (emphases added)."

<u>SFR Investments Pool 1 v. US Bank</u>, 334 P. 3d 408, 410-411(Nev. 2014). It is clear that the super-priority lien may be inclusive of more than the mere 9 months

LAS VEGAS, NV 89146

worth of assessments. To buttress this point, in June 1, 2013 the drafters of the UCIOA provided instruction to further explanation of the super-priority lien. In this Article, the Board gives two examples which demonstrate the super-priority lien consists of more than the mere 9 months of assessments. First, the Board states,

"under a proper application of § 3-116(c), PPOA would have a first priority lien on Homeowner's unit/parcel to the extent of \$6,500, reflecting six months of unpaid assessments (\$1,500) and the reasonable costs and attorney's fees incurred by PPOA in its foreclosure (\$5,000). Bank would have a second priority lien on the unit/parcel to the extent of the \$200,000 unpaid balance of Homeowner's mortgage debt. PPOA would have a third priority lien to the extent of the unpaid assessments beyond the six-month threshold (a total of \$1,500)."

The Six-Month "Limited Priority Lien" For Association Fees Under the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act, June 1, 2013, pg. 10 (last visited November 20, 2015). The Board based this example from well cited and known case law of Summerhill Village Homeowners Association v. Roughley, 270 P.3d 639 (Wash. Ct. App. 2012). Moreover, the Board gave yet another example that leads to the logical conclusion that the super-priority lien includes more than 9 months worth of assessments based on Drummer Boy Homes Association, Inc. v. Britton, 2011 Mass. App. Div. 186 (2011). The Board stated,

"[t]hus, in Example Three, Bank can redeem its first mortgage lien from the burden of PPOA's limited

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

priority lien by payment of \$1,500 (reflecting the immediately preceding six months of unpaid assessments) plus the costs (including reasonable attorney's fees) incurred by PPOA in bringing the action to enforce its lien). Once Bank has paid this amount to PPOA, PPOA's foreclosure sale to enforce the balance of unpaid assessments would transfer title to the unit/parcel subject to the remaining balance of Bank's first mortgage. PPOA's lien for the unpaid assessment balance would transfer to the proceeds of the sale (if there are any proceeds)."

<u>Id</u>. at 12. Again, this example demonstrates that the tender of only 9 months worth of assessments would be insufficient to satisfy the super-priority lien so the Respondent may redeem the fist deed of trust position.

Most importantly, as this High Court has directed,

Against [the facts presented by each party], however, must be weighed [Respondent's] (in)actions. The NOS was recorded on [June 21, 2013], and the sale did not occur until [July 17, 2013]. [Respondent] knew the sale had been scheduled and that it disputed the lien amount, yet it did not attend the sale, request arbitration to determine the amount owed, or seek to enjoin the sale pending judicial determination of the amount owed.

The NOS included a warning as required by NRS 116.311635(3)(b):WARNING! A SALE OF YOUR PROPERTY IS IMMINENT! UNLESS YOU PAY THE AMOUNT SPECIFIED IN THIS NOTICE BEFORE THE SALE DATE, YOU COULD LOSE YOUR HOME, EVEN IF THE AMOUNT IS IN DISPUTE. YOU MUST ACT BEFORE THE SALE DATE.

(Emphasis added.) In addition to the required warning, [High Noon's] NOS listed the lien amount as

11

12

13

14

15

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

[\$5,019.80]. For whatever reason, [Respondent failed to] tender...

Taken together, the record demonstrates too many unresolved issues of material fact for the district court to assess the competing equities in this case as between [High Noon] and [Respondents] on the summary judgment record assembled.

Shadow Wood HOA v. NY Cmty. Bancorp., 366 P. 3d 1105, 1114 (Nev. 2016). In this case, similar to Shadow Wood, there are unresolved factual issues as to whether Respondents' inaction was equitably reasonable. Distinguishable from <u>Shadow Wood</u>, here, Respondent received direct evidence with the NOS that the outstanding assessments were for the amount of \$2,292.67. Despite these facts Respondents failed to pay any amount due and owing demonstrated by the NOS. There is a strong inference that High Noon attempted to prompt a tender as before. However, "did not attend the sale, request arbitration to determine the amount owed, or seek to enjoin the sale pending judicial determination of the amount owed" Id. Most notably, Respondents made no contact with High Noon regarding the 2012 lien or any communication of Respondent's alleged legal position.

Thus for these reasons, similar to the reasoning articulated in *Shadow Wood*, summary judgment in the Respondents' favor was improper given the competing equities regarding the tender issue. Therefore, Appellant asks this Honorable

Court to reverse the district court decision and remand this matter for so a trial on the merits of the competing equities.

# B. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGEMENT IN THE RESPONDENTS' FAVOR REGARDING THE RESPONDENT'S BANKRUPTCY ARGUMENT BECAUSE THE HOA FORECLOSURE SALE DID NOT VIOLATE HOMEOWNER'S BANKRUPTCY DISCHARGE AND N.R.S. 116.3116.

The district court, additionally, granted summary judgment as a matter of law upon the decision that High Noon foreclosure sale is invalid because of homeowner's Chapter 7 bankruptcy. Appellant disagrees with the district court's finding regarding the bankruptcy issue presented in the case at bar. The district court determined that the homeowner's bankruptcy and discharge of the same required High Noon to record new notices reflecting new lien amounts. Appellant presents its challenge to said determination in this matter.

It is well known and well rested principle that a bankruptcy discharge does not prevent a secured creditor from proceeding with foreclosure sale of a property after the bankruptcy is discharged by the U.S. Bankruptcy Court. Commonly, the filing for bankruptcy renders a stay with regards to collection or pending sale until final discharge of said bankruptcy. Respondents cited to 11 U.S.C. §523(a)(16) which states,

"(a)A discharge under section <u>727</u>, <u>1141</u>, <u>1228 (a)</u>, <u>1228 (b)</u>, or <u>1328 (b)</u> of this title does not discharge an

individual debtor from any debt (16) for a fee or assessment that becomes due and payable after the order for relief to a membership association with respect to the debtor's interest in a unit that has condominium ownership, in a share of a cooperative corporation, or a lot in a homeowners association, for as long as the debtor or the trustee has a legal, equitable, or possessory ownership interest in such unit, such corporation, or such lot, but nothing in this paragraph shall except from discharge the debt of a debtor for a membership association fee or assessment for a period arising before entry of the order for relief in a pending or subsequent bankruptcy case"

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