#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed

PROPERTY PLUS INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Nevada Limit QCLinit (15) 11 a.m.

Corporation; Appellant Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

٧.

MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEM, an Illinois Corporation; and CHRISTIANA TRUST, A DIVISION OF WILMINGTON SAVINGS FUND SOCIETY, FSB, NOT IN ITS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY BUT AS TRUSTEE OF ARLP TRUST 3, IN C/O ALTISOURCE ASSET MANAGEMENT CORPORATION;

Respondents.

CASE NO.: 69072

District Court Case No.: A692200

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada

In and For the County of Clark

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

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. THERE IS NO DISPUTE THAT RESPONDENT, CHRISTIANA
TRUST'S PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST TENDERED AN AMOUNT
EQUAL TO NINE MONTHS OF ASSESSMENTS TO ALESSI &
KOENIG, LLC, AND SO THE COURT FOUND THAT THE TENDER
WAS EFFECTIVE TO DISCHARGE THE SUPER-PRIORITY LIEN.

The district court granted summary judgment in favor of Respondent, Christiana Trust based, in part, on Bank of America's tender of \$522.00 on September 23, 2010, to the High Noon at Arlington Ranch Homeowner's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> JA0129

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> JA0129; JA0247; JA0258-263

Association.<sup>17</sup> Appellant, Property Plus Investments, LLC argues that the district court erred in finding this tender was effective to discharge the super priority lien because the tender was made when the April 8, 2010, Lien was of record, and High Noon at Arlington Ranch Homeowner's Association foreclosed on the July 20, 2012 Lien. Thus, payment of a prior lien did not affect subsequent liens.

The issue on appeal is whether a homeowner's association can defeat a tender and assert a "new" super-priority lien by simply withdrawing its notice of lien and recording a new one. For the reasons discussed, *infra*, a homeowner's association is not entitled to successive super-priority liens under Nevada law and thus the trial court properly ruled that Appellant, Property Plus Investments, LLC took title to the Property subject to Respondent, Christiana Trust's Deed of Trust.

# 1. A Homeowner's Association is Entitled to One Super-Priority Lien.

Nevada's homeowner association lien rights, found in NRS 116.3116 et seq., were created by reference in part to the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act ("UCIOA"). As this Court itself recognized, commentary to the UCIOA aids in the interpretation of the statute. *SFR Investments v. U.S. Bank*, 334 P.3d 408, 410 (Nev. 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> JA0340

NRS 116.3116(2)(b) elevates the priority of homeowner association liens over other liens, except for first trust deeds and others not relevant to this appeal. *Id.* However, even the priority of a first deed of trust is subordinate to the "superpriority lien." *Id.* at 410-11. NRS 116.3116(2) defines the super-priority lien as:

The [association] lien also prior to all security interest described in paragraph (b) to the extent of any [maintenance and nuisance-abatement] charges incurred by the association on a unit pursuant to NRS 116.310312 and to the extent of the assessments for common expenses [i.e., HOA dues] based on the periodic budge adopted by the association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately preceding the institution of an action to enforce the lien unless federal regulations adopted by the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation or the Federal National Mortgage Association require a shorter period of priority for the lien. . . <u>Id</u>. (Emphasis added).

The super-priority lien is thus defined by reference to (i) 9 months of assessments, maintenance and nuisance abatement charges, (ii) that accrue in the period "preceding the institution of an action to enforce a lien." The UCIOA's definition of the super-priority lien contains similar language as NRS 116.3116(2).

The Uniform Law Commission has established a Joint Editorial Board for Uniform Real Property Acts, made up of members from the Uniform Law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> There is no contention that maintenance and nuisance abatement charges were included in the HOA lien in this case. Thus, the sole focus is on the nine months of assessments and the institution of the action to enforce the lien.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The distinction relevant to this appeal is that the UCIOA super-priority lien is limited to six months immediately preceding the institution of an action to enforce the lien. *Id*.at 411, fn. 1, citing 1982 UCIOA § 3-116.

Commission which is responsible for monitoring the uniform real property acts including the UCIOA. *Id.* at 413. The Joint Editorial Board released a report (hereinafter the "JEB Report") that addressed the topic of whether an association could take successive actions to claim and enforce a super-priority lien. (See Report of the Joint Editorial Board for Uniform Real Property Acts, "The Six-Month 'Limited Priority Lien' For Association Fees Under the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act," pgs. 12-13 (June 1, 2013)). In no uncertain terms, the Joint Editorial Board states that a homeowner's association is not entitled to successive super-priority liens:

[S]ection 3-116I [of the UCIOA] does not (and was not intended to) authorize an association to file successive lien enforcement actions every six months as means to extend the association's limited lien priority. Only one action is necessary to permit the association to enforce its lien, sell the unit/parcel, and deliver clear title; accordingly, successive action would only serve to extend the association's lien priority beyond the six-month period express in section 3-116I.

Consistent with its conclusion that successive actions cannot be filed to extend the super-priority lien amounts, the Joint Editorial Board Report concludes the super-priority lien is a "one-time" lien:

Section 3-116I [of the UCIOA] provides an association with first lien priority only to the extent of the six months of unpaid common expense assessment that accrued immediately preceding a lien

http://www.uniformlaws.org/shared/docs/jeburpa/2013jun1\_JEBURPA\_UCIOA% 20Lien%20Priority%20Report.pdf (last visited August 22, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Available at

foreclosure action by either the association or the first mortgage . . . the drafters of UCIOA § 3-116 I did not contemplate the now-common scenario in which the first mortgagee's foreclosure action might remain pending for two years or more. *Id.* at 14; see also *Lake Ridge Condo. Assoc. v. Vegas*, No. NNHCV116021568S (Conn. Super. Ct. June 25, 2012) (holding that the first mortgage paid and satisfied the super-priority lien while its foreclosure action was pending, so the HOA was not entitled to commence a second action two years later to establish another super-priority lien while the first mortgage foreclosure was still pending).

The Nevada Real Estate Division recently issued an advisory opinion on successive lien rights consistent with that expressed by the Joint Editorial Board. The Nevada Real Estate Division concluded the super-priority lien is limited to the period of time specified in the statute: nine months of assessments from the institution of an action to enforce the association's lien. See 13-01 Op. Dep't. of Bus. & Indus., Real Estate Div., p.17 (2012). The triggering event is the mailing of the Notice of Delinquent Assessment. *Id.* at 17-18. "At that point, the immediately preceding 9 months of assessments based on the association's budget determine the amount of the super priority lien." *Id.* 

This reasonable interpretation of the plain language of the statute leaves no room for argument that an association may create successive super priority liens, particularly where, as here, the original lien was not satisfied and payment rejected.

# 2. Permitting Successive Super-Priority Liens Would Deter Payment, Inject Further Uncertainty into the Payment Process, and Encourage Delay in Completing Foreclosure.

Appellant seeks to treat Bank of America's tender of payment as a legal nullity. Plainly this is at odds with the body of case law that treats a rejected tender as effective to discharge the debt for which payment was offered. Further, the lender should not have to wait on the homeowner's association to decide which foreclosure proceeding it voluntarily commenced as the one which will result in sale unless paid in full. While an association always has the latitude and discretion to cancel a foreclosure proceeding, it does not have the latitude to ignore the consequences of a lender's tender of payment. As Appellant seeks to interpret the law, a lender is forever at risk of losing its security interest, even if willing to take the legal steps mandated by this Court to protect its rights. In such a scenario, the lender may well wonder if the only plausible response is litigation, whenever a lien Such an interpretation of the super priority lien right of the is withdrawn. Moreover, there is no discernable purpose association serves no one's interest. served by rescinding and restarting the foreclosure process. Pursuant to NRS 116.3116 as relief is afforded only when the foreclosure is completed. Payment or sale are the only two options. Once the association has committed to foreclosing its lien, then the association is also committed to respecting the limitations on the priority of its lien.

In *Hudson House Condominium Ass'n v. Brooks*, 223 Conn. 610, 611 A.2d 862 (Conn. 1992) the Supreme Court of Connecticut considered a similar scenario. The homeowner's association argued "that because it could, in theory, initiate a foreclosure on delinquent common expense assessments every six months, it could thereby obtain a priority status for all delinquent assessments." *Id.* at 614. The Supreme Court of Connecticut rejected this argument and held that the homeowner's association's super-priority lien was "limited to the common expense assessments that accrued in the six months immediately preceding the commencement of the foreclosure." *Id.* at 616.

# 3. Rejection of a Tender Discharges for the Super-Priority Lien to the Extent of the Payment.

When rejection of a tender is unjustified, the tender is effective to discharge the lien. Stone Hollow Ave. Tr. v. Bank of Am., N.A., No. 64955, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 637, at \*1 (Aug. 11, 2016) (citing to Hohn v. Morrison, 870 P.2d 513, 516-17 (Colo. App. 1993); Lanier v. Mandeville Mills, 183 Ga. 716, 189 S.E. 532, 534-35 (Ga. 1937); Fed. Disc. Corp. v. Rush, 269 Mich. 612, 257 N.W. 897, 899 (Mich. 1934); Segars v. Classen Garage & Serv. Co., 1980 OK CIV APP 9, 612 P.2d 293, 295-96 (Okla. Civ. App. 1980); Reynolds v. Price, 88 S.C. 525, 71 S.E. 51, 53 (S.C. 1911); Karnes v. Barton, 272 S.W. 317, 319 (Tex. Civ. App.

1925); Hilmes v. Moon, 168 Wash. 222, 11 P.2d 253, 260 (Wash. 1932); see also 59 C.J.S. Mortgages § 582 (2016).) In this case, no evidence was proffered as to why Alessi & Koenig, LLC or its principal rejected the tender of payment. The trial court properly concluded that no inference can be drawn that the tender was for the wrong amount and properly concluded the tender discharged the super priority portion of the association's lien.

- B. THE ASSOCIATION'S BID AT ITS FORECLOSURE SALE INCLUDED DISCHARGED, PRE-PETITION DEBT THAT VIOLATED THE POST-DISCHARGE INJUNCTION.
  - 1. A Creditor Has Standing to Challenge the Bankruptcy Discharge Violation.

Respondent, Christiana Trust, as a secured creditor, can assert the sale as conducted violated the discharge injunction granted the homeowner. The Ninth Circuit BAP Court has held that Congress intended to confer rights on creditors as parties for whose benefit the automatic stay was promulgated. See, *In re Brooks*, 871 F.2d 89, 90 (9th Cir.1989), affg *Brooks*, 79 B.R. 479 (9th Cir.B.A.P.1987). The same reasoning applies to protecting other creditors from abuse or disregard of the discharge injunction.

The following Courts held that secured creditors can raise challenges outside of the bankruptcy court. In *In re Killmer* 501 B.R. 208 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2013),

Beneficial Home Service Corporation ("Beneficial") held a security interest in the debtor's property. The debtor's property was sold at a tax sale in violation of the automatic stay to a third party purchaser purportedly terminating Beneficial's lien. Beneficial successfully sought to declare the tax sale void. *Id*.

In so holding, the court addressed the standing of a creditor to have a sale declared void:

The situation that is alleged to have occurred here is the type of scenario that Congress intended to prevent. Since the automatic stay is meant to prevent creditors from racing to the courthouse to the detriment of other creditors, the Court sees no reason why a creditor who has been harmed by a stay violation should not be able to seek redress for its injury. *In re Killmer* 501 B.R. at 212, 2013 WL 6038838, at \*3.

A further example is found in *United States v. Miller*, No. CIV.A.5:02-CV-0168-C, 2003 WL 23109906, at \*7 (N.D. Tex. Dec. 22, 2003). In the *Miller* case, the United States sought to void a foreclosure sale by filing a declaratory relief complaint in the Federal District Court. The defendant challenged the standing of the United States to invoke the violation of the automatic stay as the basis for challenging the sale. In rejecting the argument, the Court held:

Less obvious but no less important interests protected by § 362 are those of creditors, who are "clearly intended to benefit from § 362." *Pointer*, 952 F.2d at 86; see also *Pierce*, 272 B.R. at 204 ("The stay is intended to benefit both debtors and creditors"); *Glendenning v. Third Fed. Savs. Bank (In re Glendenning*), 243 B.R. 629, 634 (Bankr.E.D.Pa.2000) (noting that protection of creditors' interests is confirmed by fact that automatic stay arises even in face of debtor's dereliction in raising it). Congress intended to

confer rights on creditors as parties for whose benefit the automatic stay was promulgated.

Thus, bankruptcy law is clear; Respondent, Christiana Trust, as a secured creditor has standing to assert a challenge to a violation of a debtor's discharge order.

# 2. Homeowner Assessments That Accrued Pre-Petition are Dischargeable in Bankruptcy.

The Bankruptcy Code specifically provides for relief to a homeowner from the payment of assessments and fees that accrued prior to filing.<sup>21</sup> 11 U.S.C. §523(a)(16) states:

(a) A discharge under section 727, 1141, 1228 (a), 1228 (b), or 1328 (b) of this title does not discharge an individual debtor from any debt— for a fee or assessment that becomes due and payable after the order for relief to a membership association with respect to the debtor's interest in a unit that has condominium ownership, in a share of a cooperative corporation, or a lot in a homeowners association, for as long as the debtor or the trustee has a legal, equitable, or possessory ownership interest in such unit, such corporation, or such lot, but nothing in this paragraph shall except from discharge the debt of a debtor for a membership association fee or assessment for a period arising before entry of the order for relief in a pending or subsequent bankruptcy case.

When Sulliban's Chapter 7 bankruptcy was discharged on March 20, 2013, any fees and assessments owing prior the Chapter 7 filing date of December 19, 2012, were discharged as a matter of law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 11 U.S.C. §523(a)(16).

# 3. Nevada Law Requires a Homeowners Association's Chapter 116 Notices to Contain Accurate Information about the Deficiency in Payment

NRS 116.311635(2)(3)(a) states that the Notice of Sale must state "The amount necessary to satisfy the lien as of the date of the proposed sale." Alessi & Koenig, LLC's Notice of Trustee's Sale contained an inaccurate recital of the amount necessary to satisfy the lien as of the sale date, as the association failed to acknowledge the pre-petition debt had been discharged through Sulliban's bankruptcy. Indeed, the Notice of Sale identified an amount owed of \$5,019.80 and Alessi & Koenig, LLC's accounts ledgers verify that this amount included fees, assessments, and costs which had accrued prior to the commencement of Sulliban's bankruptcy.<sup>22</sup>

Amounts due in foreclosure notices should be accurate. *See Bank-Fund Staff Fed. Credit Union v. Cuellar*, 639 A.2d 561, 563-564 (D.C. 1994); *Broosk v. Rivertown on the Island Homeowner Ass'n*, 2011 Tenn.App. LEXIS 651 (Tenn. Ct. App. Dec. 2011) (setting aside a homeowner's association sale based, in part, on foreclosure notices failing to accurately describe amount owed).

The Notice of Default recorded on October 31, 2012, violates the statute because it does not accurately describe the deficiency in payment after the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> JA0129; JA0247; JA0258-263.

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